#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## **CASE NO. SC11-474**

# VICTOR TONY JONES,

# Appellant,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

## Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar #0066850

CRAIG J. TROCINO Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar #996270

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel (954) 713-1284 Fax (954) 713- 1299

**COUNSEL FOR MR. JONES** 

# **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Jones's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" - record on direct appeal to this Court;

"RS" - resentencing record on direct appeal;

"PCR" & "PCR-2" -- records on prior 3.850 appeals to this Court;

"SuppR" – Supplemental record on relinquishment of jurisdiction

"PCR-3" - record on first successive 3.851 appeal to this Court;

"PCR-4" - record on the instant appeal.

#### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mr. Jones has been sentenced to death. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Jones, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

### **INTRODUCTION**

In Porter v. McCollum, the United States Supreme Court issued a full scale repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence. The Supreme Court held that this Court's application of *Strickland* in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." 130 S. Ct. 447, 455 (2009). The United States Supreme Court made that determination under the rubric of the most deferential of review standards established by the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act ("AEDPA"), which requires that federal courts to treat state court adjudications with an extremely high level of deference. This high level of deference requires that a federal court may only alter a state court adjudication if its application of federal law was unreasonable, meaning not even supported by reason or rationale. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter* must be read. When asking whether *Porter* requires a change in this Court's jurisprudence going forward, it must be considered that the United States Supreme Court in Porter found this Court's application of *Strickland* to be so unreasonable that it was appropriate to reach past its concerns of federalism and deference to state courts and respect for state sovereignty to correct the unconstitutional ruling.

Mr. Jones asks this Court to consider *Porter* introspectively and deeply, looking past the first blush language of the opinion, and inquiring into whether or not *Porter* forbids something that this Court has done in the present case. In other words, simply distinguishing *Porter* on its facts fails to identify the underlying constitutional problem; Mr. Jones asks this Court to attain a sense for the problem in conceptual approach that *Porter* identifies and then ask if something similar happened here. This Court must consider whether the unreasonable analysis in *Porter* was merely an aberration, limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case and wholly different and separate from other *Strickland* analyses by this Court, or was it in fact indicative of a non-isolated conceptual problem in this Court's approach to *Strickland* issues that also occurred in the present case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### **Procedural History**

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration. After a jury trial, Mr. Jones was found guilty of two counts of first-degree murder and related offenses. The jury recommended death, and the trial judge imposed two death sentences. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Jones' convictions and sentences. *Jones v. State*, 652 So. 2d 346 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 116 S. Ct. 202 (1995). On March 24, 1997, Mr. Jones filed an initial Rule 3.850 motion. (PCR. 38-77). An amended motion was subsequently filed (PCR. 93-202), along with a motion alleging that Mr. Jones was not competent.<sup>1</sup> Following evaluations and an evidentiary hearing, the lower court found that Mr. Jones was competent to proceed following a bifurcated hearing that concluded on September 3, 1999. A final amended postconviction motion was thereafter filed. (PCR. 203-314). Following a *Huff<sup>2</sup>* hearing, the lower court granted an evidentiary limited to the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel as to voluntary intoxication and mitigation. (PCR. 365). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on various separate dates, and an order denying relief was entered. (PCR. 379-96). A timely notice of appeal was filed. (PCR. 397). The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the motion for post conviction relief. *Jones v. State*, 855 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2003).

Two evidentiary hearings were held; one during the initial postconviction proceeding and one after this Court relinquished jurisdiction for a hearing on Mr. Jones' claim of mental retardation. The circuit court denied Mr. Jones all relief. This Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Jones's motions for postconviction relief. *Jones v. State*, 855 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 2003); *Jones v. State*, 966 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Carter v. State, 706 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

On November 29, 2010, Mr. Jones filed a successive motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence pursuant to 3.851 alleging that this Court failed to properly analyze prejudice based on clearly established federal law as set forth in *Porter v. McCollum* and *Strickland v. Washington*. (PCR-4 p. 36-80). The After a case management conference on January 11, 2011, the court entered an order denying Mr. Jones relief.

#### **Facts Relevant To This Appeal**

During the postconviction evidentiary hearings the following evidence was presented.

Dr. Brad Fisher, a forensic psychologist, testified that trial counsel Mr. Koch retained him to evaluate Mr. Jones. (PCR. 632-635). He only conducted a general preliminary evaluation to develop a "rough sense" of Mr. Jones' mental health situation. (PCR. 657-38). He did not recall receiving materials from Koch and his file contained no records. (PCR. 639). Nor did he recall speaking with Koch about why he was not going to be called as a witness (*Id.*). Fisher was later contacted by collateral counsel, and met with and evaluated Mr. Jones again in May and June of 2000. (PCR. 640-41). He was then provided with a number of background materials, including prior testimony and mental health evaluations, school records, prison records, medical records, affidavits of family members and acquaintances, records from a Jackson Memorial Hospital hospitalization in 1975, and public

defender social worker Marlene Schwartz's investigative notes. (PCR. 641-43). He also reviewed records surrounding an arrest of Laura Long's son, Lawrence, for a 1984 murder in Georgia. (PCR. 646). Fisher also personally interviewed members of Mr. Jones' family (PCR. 647). All of this material was necessary for Fisher to form opinions and conclusions in Mr. Jones' case. (PCR. 648).

Based on his evaluation, Fisher uncovered mitigating factors that he could have explained to the jury. Specifically, he stated,

It is my opinion that the disruptive, chaotic and troublesome in the extreme developmental background, such as, I believe he had included both his mother and Laura because he was raised by both at different times, was a significant mitigating factor. That's one.

Secondly, it is my opinion that, again, with data that is, I believe, not controverted and coming from many sources, that his abuse of drugs, consistent abuse of alcohol and drugs from a very early age. I'm not talking about 15. I'm not really even talking about ten. I'm talking about younger than that, with the genetic background that includes a mother who is an alcoholic, was and is, whatever the word, a significant factor.

Third, the prison records and my own interviews suggest some neurological problems. That's very hard to differentiate to what nature and extent they can be attributed specifically to the time that he was shot at the time of the crime versus existed there before.

(PCR. 649-50). According to Dr. Fisher, at the time of the crime, Mr. Jones' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (PCR. 652). He was also under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (*Id*.).

Dr. Fisher further discussed a report from Jackson Memorial Hospital about Mr. Jones' 1975 psychiatric admission, which indicated that an admitting diagnosis was chronic schizophrenia, borderline mental retardation and a discharge diagnosis of unsocialized aggressive reaction of adulthood. (PCR. 655) (R.2 85-94). The report also provided a history of Mr. Jones' background, including a pediatric admission in the intensive care unit for three months. (PCR. 656). This information was important to Dr. Fisher because he "saw those factors as significant to the diagnosis that [Mr. Jones] got when he was admitted, the length of stay, the double stays, meaning he's going in at 14 three or four months and again for 39 days in 1975, they play a role in the different opinions that I have expressed today." (PCR. 657). This and other reports "give consistent information about some of the troubles in his development, both in the mother and her abuse of alcohol and in the strictness of Laura, his aunt, and the problems with some of the siblings and some of his own problems at school and with drugs." (Id.).

Dr. Fisher testified about additional information concerning "noteworthy items" in the records he reviewed, such as prior DOC records indicating that Mr. Jones had a history of car accidents and falls resulting in his being knocked unconscious, as well as use of all types of drugs. (PCR. 689). The prior DOC records also indicated an IQ test revealing a full scale score of 76 which placed Mr. Jones in "the territory of borderline intelligence, close to retardation." (*Id.*). Fisher

noted that these records predate the crime. (PCR. 690). The 1975 JMH report also referred to borderline intelligence. (*Id.*). In 2000, Fisher re-evaluated Mr. Jones on two separate occasions and he concluded that Mr. Jones had a horrible developmental background based on his interviews with Mr. Jones and his family members. (PCR. 735-738). With regard to the 1975 JMH admission, Dr. Fisher did not know whether Mr. Jones ever received any treatment for schizophrenia, but the report suggested follow-up evaluations. (PCR. 748). He also was aware that Mr. Jones had been in and out of several drug treatment facilities. (PCR. 748).

Dr. Hyman Eisenstein also testified that trial counsel retained him to evaluate Mr. Jones and to conduct neuropsychological testing. (PCR. 787; 790). Trial counsel had provided him with limited background information. (PCR. 790). Dr. Eisenstein testified at a competency hearing conducted between the guilt and penalty phases of trial, as well as at the sentencing before the judge and opined that Mr. Jones was incompetent to proceed "based on the frontal lobe injury that he sustained and manifested by the inability to regulate and control his behavior, especially under stress." (PCR. 791-92).<sup>3</sup> He also evaluated Mr. Jones in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Jones' competency was raised in postconviction as a due process issue and trial counsel's failure to request a competency evaluation pre-trial was raised as an ineffective assistance of counsel issue pursuant to *Strickland*. See *Jones v. State*, 855 So. 2d 611, 615 (Fla. 2003);(PCR 255-259). The evidentiary hearing included testimony from Dr. Eisenstein concerning these issues, but the lower court denied relief. A separate competency hearing was concluded on September 3, 1999, prior

postconviction. He performed another IQ test and a brief interview. (PCR. 793). When he worked with trial counsel prior to trial, Dr. Eisenstein saw Mr. Jones numerous times and conducted two comprehensive neuropsychological examinations, one in 1991 and the second in 1993. (PCR. 793). In terms of the collateral evaluation, Dr. Eisenstein was provided with and reviewed numerous background materials not provided previously. (PCR. 795-96; 802-03). At trial, Eisenstein spoke only with Mr. Jones's aunt, while in postconviction he spoke with other family members who confirmed Mr. Jones's accounts of abuse. (PCR. 797).

Dr. Eisenstein would have testified at Mr. Jones's penalty phase about past psychological and psychiatric problems, substance abuse problems, cognitive intellectual deficits, poor academic background, and family dysfunction. (PCR. 804). He also concluded, to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, that at the time of the crime, Mr. Jones' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, even before he was shot in the head at the crime scene. (PCR. 805). Moreover, he testified that at the time of the crime, Mr. Jones was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance and was intoxicated at the time of the crime. (PCR. 805)

to the evidentiary hearing, after which the court found Mr. Jones competent to proceed. (PCR. 379; 388-89)

Dr. Eisenstein testified that the 1975 JMH admission report was significant because it indicated that Jones had been at different institutions and youth homes and had been labeled as borderline mentally retarded with an IQ in the 70-79 range. (PCR. 808). It also indicated that Mr. Jones was depressed, angry, exhibited looseness of talk, and his affect and mood were indicative of schizophrenia. (PCR. 809). The JMH report disclosed that Mr. Jones suffered from visual and auditory hallucinations that have content common to paranoid individuals, that the hospital recommended close observation and follow-up, and that Mr. Jones "does not remember any happy moment in his life." (PCR. 809-10). It further detailed Mr. Jones' troubles with drugs, difficulties in school, and his mother's alcoholism. (PCR. 811).

Dr. Eisenstein found the information in the JMH report consistent with his family interviews and with other records including Florida DOC testing in 1988 indicating an IQ of 76 in existence prior to the capital charges. (PCR. 811-815). Dr. Eisenstein's testing in 1991, 1993, and 1999 was corroborated by the 1975 and 1988 reports (which he did not have at trial) confirming that Mr. Jones had intellectual functioning in the borderline range. (PCR. 816-17).

Dr. Eisenstein's opinion in postconviction was that Mr. Jones had neuropsychological problems prior to sustaining the frontal lobe injury at the time of the offense. (PCR. 857). The records indicate that he was a slow learner, and

9

his school records revealed that he obtained approximately 80% C's when he was seven and eight, and after that they were basically all F's. (PCR 875). The records Dr. Eisenstein was not provided at trial supported borderline mental retardation. (PCR. 875). Mr. Jones also had car accidents and drug overdoses, which can create neuropsychological impairment, according to Dr. Eisenstein. (PCR. 858). Based on this new constellation of information, Eisenstein's opinion was that Mr. Jones had "a considerable amount of deficits in other areas of brain behavior activity." (PCR. 858).

Dr. Eisenstein testified that in 1992 he spoke with only one relative, Aunt Laura Long, briefly on the telephone. (PCR. 877-78). Eisenstein opined that "if resources are put into finding family members, often they can be found, but it's a very time consuming task." (PCR. 878). Presumably trial counsel did not seek to expend the resources because Dr. Eisenstein explained he was never asked to interview anyone but Laura Long, and that if had asked him to interview others, he would have. (PCR. 937). He testified that Mr. Jones' performance in school, based on records review, was very poor. (PCR. 880-83). The 1975 JMH report, along with other new information, corroborated his conclusions about Mr. Jones' intellectual functioning and he opined that the doctors at JMH would not have kept him for five weeks in the hospital if they did not believe that Mr. Jones had some type of mental disorder. (PCR. 884-88).

Dr. Eisenstein testified that Mr. Jones was not of average intellectual functioning because he "presents with severe neurological deficits," his intellectual level is in the "borderline" or "mild mental deficiency range," has "deficits in his thinking process, his abstraction, in his ability to formulate conceptual thinking." (PCR. 918).

Dr. Jethro Toomer, a forensic and clinical psychologist, testified that trial counsel asked him to determine Mr. Jones' mental status functioning and issues related to mitigation. (PCR. 1089). He acknowledged knowing that Mr. Jones had said he had been physically punished by his cousin, but denied knowing details. (PCR. 1116). Although he was told that Mr. Jones had been in the JMH psychiatric ward, he never saw any records from that admission and was told the records did not exist. (PCR. 1110; 1118). He testified that the new data reinforced his opinions with respect to Mr. Jones's overall functioning. (PCR. 1130).

At the case management conference on the instant successive 3.851 motion, counsel moved for a competency hearing because it was believed Mr. Jones was not competent given recent phone conversation and personal visits with him as well as letters Mr. Jones sent Judge Zlock, the federal district judge presiding over his federal habeas corpus petition. (PCR-4 p.84-90). It was counsel's position that Mr. Jones' lack of competence prevented him from executing the verification on the 3.851 motion. (PCR-4 p.161). The court denied the motion without prejudice and

the matter proceeded. (PCR-4 p.163). Subsequently, the circuit court denied the motion. (PCR-4 p. 118-123).

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Mr. Jones has presented several issues which involve mixed questions of law and fact. Thus, a *de novo* standard applies. *Bruno v. State*, 807 So. 2d 55, 61-62 (Fla. 2001).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mr. Jones was deprived of the effective assistance of trial counsel. This Court denied Mr. Jones' claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in a manner found unconstitutional in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). The recent decision by the United States Supreme Court in Porter establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Jones' ineffective assistance of counsel claim was premised upon this Court's case law misreading and misapplying *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in law as explained herein rendering Mr. Jones' *Porter* claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. See Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980). A Rule 3.851 motion is the appropriate vehicle to present Mr. Jones' claim premised upon the change in Florida law that Porter represents. Hall v. State, 541 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989) (holding that claims under Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), a case in which the United States

Supreme Court found that this Court had misread and misapplied *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), should be raised in Rule 3.850 motions).

The issues presented in this appeal consist of two parts: the first is the determination of whether the *Porter* claim is cognizable, meaning whether it creates a change in Florida law and is retroactive in nature. That issue is a question of law that must be reviewed *de novo*. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993). The second is the application of *Porter* to Mr. Thompson's case, a determination for which deference is given findings of historical fact. All other facts must be viewed in relation to how Mr. Thompson's jury would have viewed those facts. *See Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009); *see Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 449 n.19 (1995).

Further, the lower court's findings of fact are owed no deference by this Court when they are tainted by legal error. Factual determinations "induced by an erroneous view of the law" should be set aside. *Holland v. Gross*, 89 So. 2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956); *see also Central Waterworks, Inc. v. Town of Century*, 754 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

#### ARGUMENT

CONVICTION MR. JONES' AND DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTION WHERE THEY ARE PREDICATED UPON A TRIAL PROCEEDING THAT WAS MARRED BY THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL THE FACTS DETAILING WHERE SUCH **INEFFECTIVENESS** HAVE NOT BEEN ADEOUATELY ANALYZED PURSUANT TO ESTABLISHED UNITED **STATES SUPREME COURT'S** DECISION IN PORTER V. **MCCOLLUM.**

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