IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-474

VICTOR TONY JONES,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698 (emphasis added).³ As this passage shows, the Court required deference not only to findings of historical fact but also deference to factual findings made in resolving claims of ineffective assistance while allowing *de novo* review of the application of the law to these factual findings. This is exactly the standard of review that this Court mandated in *Stephens*, 748 So. 2d at 1034, and applied in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917, 923 (Fla. 2001), *Sochor v. State*, 833 So. 2d 766, 781 (Fla. 2004), and this case, *Jones v. State*, 855 So. 2d 611, 616 (Fla. 2003). Thus, to find that

³ The references to 28 U.S.C. §2254(d) in *Strickland* concern the provisions of the statute before the adoption of the AEDPA in 1996. Under the federal habeas statute as it existed at the time, a federal court was required to defer to a state court factual finding if it was made after a "full and fair" hearing and was "fairly supported by the record." 28 U.S.C. §2254(d) (1984). After the enactment of the AEDPA, the deference required of state court factual findings has been heightened and moved. 28 U.S.C. §2254(e)(1)(requiring a federal court to presume a state court factual finding correct unless the defendant presents clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption).

Porter held that application of this standard of review was a legal error, this Court would have to find that the United States Supreme Court overruled this expressed and direct language from Strickland in Porter.

However, Defendant concedes that Porter did not overrule or alter any portion of Strickland. Initial Brief at 27-28. By making this concession, Defendant has agreed that the Court did not overrule this portion of Strickland. Since this Court's precedent on the standard of review is entirely consistent with this portion of Strickland, Defendant has conceded that the Court did not overrule this Court's precedent. His attempt to argue to the contrary is specious. The lower court properly determined that Porter did not change the law and that the motion was time barred as a result. It should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant were to attempt to take back his concession and argue that the Court had overruled *Strickland's* requirement of deference to factual findings made in the course of resolving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, the lower court would still have properly found the law has not changed. In *Porter*, the Court never mentioned this portion of *Strickland* and made no suggestion that it was improper for a reviewing court to defer to factual findings made in resolving an ineffective assistance claim. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 448-56.

Instead, it characterized the opinion of the state trial court and this Court as having found there was no statutory mitigation established and there was no prejudice from the failure to Id. at 451. present nonstatutory mitigation. Under the standard of review mandated by Strickland and followed by this Court, the first of these findings was a factual finding but the Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698. second was not. Rather than determining that this Court's factual finding was not binding, the Court seems to have accepted it and found this Court had acted unreasonably by not making factual findings about nonstatutory mental health mitigation and making an unreasonable conclusion on the mixed question of fact and law regarding prejudice. Id. at 454-56. Thus, to find that Porter overruled Stephens and its progeny, this Court would have to find that the United States Supreme Court overruled itself sub silencio in a case where the Court appears to have applied the allegedly overruled law. However, this Court is not even empowered to make such a finding, as this Court has itself recognized. Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express, 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693, 694 (Fla. 2002). Thus, the lower court properly determined that Porter did not change the law, that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did not apply and that the motion was time barred. It should be

affirmed.

Similarly, Defendant's reliance on Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010), also is misplaced. In Sears, the Georgia postconviction court found trial counsel's performance deficient under Strickland but then stated that it was unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Id. at 3261. In Sears, the United States Supreme Court Sears. did not find that it was improper for a trial court to make factual findings in ruling on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or for a reviewing court to defer to those findings. Instead, the Supreme Court reversed because it did not believe that the lower courts had made findings about the evidence *Id.* at 3261. Thus, Sears does not support the presented. assertion that the making of findings or giving deference in reviewing findings is inappropriate.

Defendant also seems to suggest that *Porter* requires a court to grant relief on an ineffective assistance of counsel based solely on a finding that some evidence to support prejudice was presented at a post conviction hearing regardless of what mitigation was presented at trial, how incredible the new evidence was, how much negative information the new evidence would have caused to be presented at trial or how aggravated the case was. However, *Porter* itself states that this is not the

standard for assessing prejudice. Instead, the Court stated that determining prejudice required a court to "consider 'the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding' and "reweig[h] it against the evidence in aggravation." *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54 (quoting *Williams*, 529 U.S. at 397-98).

Moreover, in Wong v. Belmontes, 130 S. Ct. 383, 386-91 (2009), the Court reversed the Ninth Circuit for finding prejudice by ignoring the mitigation evidence already presented, the cumulative nature of the new evidence, the negative information that would have been presented had the new evidence been presented and the aggravated nature of the crime. The Court noted that this error was probably caused by the Ninth Circuit's failure to require that the defendant meet his burden of affirmatively proving prejudice. Id. at 390-91. Similarly in Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13, 19-20 (2009), the Court reversed the Sixth Circuit for finding prejudice without considering the mitigation already presented at trial, the cumulative nature of the evidence presented in post conviction and the aggravated nature of the crime.

Given what *Porter* actually says about proving prejudice and *Belmontes* and *Van Hook*, Defendant's suggestion that *Porter* requires a finding of prejudice anytime a defendant presents

some evidence at a post conviction hearing is simply false. *Porter* did not change the law in requiring that a defendant actually prove there is a reasonable probability of a different result.⁴ Since *Porter* did not change the law, the lower court properly determined that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) did apply to this situation and *Porter* had changed the law, the lower court would still have properly denied the motion because *Porter* would not apply retroactively. As Defendant admits, the determination of whether a change in law is retroactive is controlled by *Witt v*. *State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). As Defendant also properly acknowledges, to obtain retroactive application of the law under *Witt*, he was required to show: (1) the change in law emanated from this Court or the United States Supreme Court; (2) was constitutional in nature; and (3) was of fundamental significance. *Id.* at 929-30. To meet the third element of this test, the change in law must (1) "place beyond the authority of

⁴ Using Defendant's analogy, the task of determining prejudice involves taking the bag of pennies and quarters as it existed from the time of trial, determining whether the new evidence actually adds any new pennies or quarters based on whether they are supported by credible, non-cumulative evidence, adding both the new pennies and the new quarters and deciding whether the defendant has proven that the total amount of pennies outweigh the total amount of quarters. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 453-54; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96.

the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties; or (2) be of "sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the threefold test of *Stovall* and *Linkletter*." *Id.* at 929. Application of that three prong test requires consideration of the purpose served by the new case; the extent of reliance on the old law; and the effect on the administration of justice from retroactive application. *Ferguson v. State*, 789 So. 2d 306, 311 (Fla. 2001).

Here, while Defendant admits that a change in law is not retroactive under *Witt* unless this standard is met, he makes no attempt to show how the change in law that he alleges occurred meets this standard. In fact, he never clearly identifies what change in law *Porter* allegedly made, offers no purpose behind that alleged change in law and does not mention how extensive the reliance on the allegedly old law was or what the effect on the administration of justice would be. He does not even challenge the lower court's findings regarding these issues. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly found that Defendant failed to establish that the change in law he alleges occurred would be retroactive under *Witt*. It should be affirmed.

Instead of attempting to show that the change in law he

alleges occurred meets *Witt*, Defendant notes that this Court found that *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), constituted a retroactive change in law. He then suggests that because both cases involved findings of error in Florida cases, the change in law he asserts occurred in *Porter* should be too. However, the mere fact that this Court found a change in law based on a determination that this Court had made an error to meet the *Witt* standard in one case does not dictate that the *Witt* standard is satisfied by a finding that this Court committed a different error in a different case. This is particularly true when one considers the difference in the errors found in *Hitchcock* and *Porter* and the relationship between those errors and the *Witt* standard.

In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. at 398-99, the Court found that the giving of a jury instruction that told the jury not to consider nonstatutory mitigation was improper. As such, the purpose of finding this error was to permit a jury to consider evidence the defendant had a constitutional right to have considered. Moreover, because the jury instruction was only given in the penalty phase and could only have harmed a defendant if he was sentenced to death, the number of cases in which there had been an error that would need retroactive correction was limited. Further, because the error was in a

jury instruction, determining whether that error occurred in a particular case was simple. All one needed to do was review the jury instructions that had been given in a particular case to see if it was the offending instruction. Courts were not required to comb through stale records looking for errors. See State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1990)(refusing to apply Carawan v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), retroactively). Thus, the purpose of the new rule, extent of reliance on the old rule and effect on the administration of justice in *Hitchcock* militated in favor of retroactivity.

In contrast, Porter involved nothing more than а determination that this Court had unreasonably applied а correctly stated rule of law to the facts of a particular case, as noted above. Thus, the purpose of *Porter* was nothing more than to correct an error in the application of the law to the facts of a particular case. Moreover, as the lower court found, Florida courts have extensively relied on the standard of review from Strickland that this Court recognized in Stephens and the effect on the administration of justice from applying the alleged change in law in Porter retroactively would be to bring the courts of Florida to a screeching halt as they combed through stale records to re-evaluate the merits of every claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that had ever been denied

in Florida.

Given these stark difference in the analysis of the changes in law in Porter and Hitchcock and their relationship to the Witt factors, the lower court properly determined that the alleged change in law from Porter would not be retroactive under Witt even if it had occurred. In fact, the more apt analogy regarding a change in law would be the change in law that this Court recognized in Stephens itself, as both changes in law concerned the same legal issue. However, making that analogy merely shows that the lower court was correct to deny this motion. In Johnston v. Moore, 789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001), this Court held the change in law in Stephens was not retroactive under Witt. Given the facts that Porter would fail the Witt test if it had changed the law and that this Court has already determined that changing the law regarding the standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims does not meet Witt, the lower court properly determined that any change in law that *Porter* might have made would not be retroactive. Thus, it properly found that this motion was time barred and should be affirmed.

Moreover, it should be remembered that this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant is seeking nothing more than to relitigate the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for

failing to investigate and present mitigation that he raised in his first motion for post conviction relief and lost. As this Court has held, such attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. See Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Defendant cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 2003). (Fla. It is also well established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Defendant is attempting to do here, his claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)(discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Marek v. State*, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). There, the defendant argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase had to be re-

evaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found under the AEDPA standard of review that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. Given these circumstance, the claim was barred and was properly denied. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) could apply to changes in law regarding existing rights that had yet to be held retroactive, *Porter* had changed the law, the alleged change in law was retroactive and the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. As the Court recognized in *Witt*, a defendant is not entitled to relief based on a change in law, where the change would not affect the disposition of the claim. *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 930-31. Moreover, as the Court recognized in *Strickland*, there is no reason to address the prejudice prong if a defendant fails to

show that his counsel was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

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